FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/9/2021 1:34 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 99893-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE A. DESMET and SANDOR KACSO, individually and as the General Guardians of their daughter, A.K., a minor,

Respondents,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through its agency the DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES and the CHILD PROTECTIVE SERVICES DIVISION thereof, and YOLANDA A. DURALDE, M.D.,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CYNTHIA J. GADDIS, WSB #49788 ALLYSON S. ZIPP, WSB #38076 Assistant Attorneys General Attorneys for State Appellants P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504 Tel: (360) 586-6300

I. INTRODUCTION

RCW 4.24.595(2) directs that the Department of Children, Youth, and Families is "not liable for acts performed to comply" with shelter care and other dependency orders. Here, the Department complied with the juvenile court's order that Plaintiffs' baby be in out-of-home placement while the cause of her spiral femur fracture was investigated. Plaintiffs sued the Department based on their separation from their baby, alleging the Department's negligent investigation caused the separation. In defense, the Department asserted the immunity provided by RCW 4.24.595(2) because the baby's out-of-home placement was ordered by the juvenile court.

In the Court of Appeals published opinion, the two-judge majority held RCW 4.24.595(2) did not immunize the Department, reasoning that Plaintiffs' negligent investigation claim was focused on the investigation and information the Department provided (or did not provide) to the juvenile court, actions that were not court ordered. The dissent would have dismissed the claim, reasoning that court-ordered out-of-home placement cannot create Department liability under the statute's plain language, and relying on legislative history clearly expressing the intent "to use the immunity statute to ensure the Department errs on the side of child safety when placing children outside of the home." *Desmet v. State*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 300, 319, 485 P.3d 356, 367 (2021) (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part).

Review is warranted because the majority's construction of RCW 4.24.595(2) is contrary to its plain language, ignores legislative intent as shown by the legislative history, and renders meaningless the language directing that the Department is "not liable" for acts performed to comply with shelter care and other dependency orders. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

Petitioner is the Washington State Department of Children, Youth, and Families.¹ The Department seeks review of the published decision in *Desmet v. State*, No. 53962-4-II (attached as Appendix).

III. ISSUE FOR REVIEW

RCW 4.24.595(2) states the Department is "not liable for acts performed to comply with" "shelter care and other dependency orders." Does RCW 4.24.595(2) immunize the Department from parents' claims for damages based on their baby's out-of-home placement where the juvenile court ordered the continuation of shelter care placement outside the home and the Department complied with that order?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. After Plaintiffs' Baby Suffered a Spiral Femur Fracture, the Juvenile Court Ordered Out-Of-Home Placement While the Cause of the Fracture was Investigated

A.K. was a three-month-old baby with a spiral fracture to her femur when law enforcement took her into protective custody in February 2016.

¹ Child Protective Services (CPS) transferred from the Department of Social and Health Services to the Department of Children, Youth, and Families in 2018. *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 302. This petition uses "Department" to refer to both agencies.

CP 1864-65. The Director of the Child Abuse Intervention Department at Mary Bridge Children's Hospital, Dr. Yolanda Duralde, assessed the broken femur as "'probable inflicted trauma" and "stated that AK needed to be in a safe environment until an investigation could be done." *Desmet,* 17 Wn. App. 2d at 304 (quoting CP 986). A social worker at Mary Bridge reported the injury to CPS, which assigned a social worker to investigate. *Id.*; CP 990. That day, the social worker interviewed A.K.'s parents, Desmet and Kacso (Plaintiffs), and contacted King County Sheriff's Office (KCSO). *Id.* at 304. The social worker recorded Dr. Duralde's belief that the cause of injury "was most likely not the daycare." *Id.*; CP 990. KCSO took A.K. into protective custody. *Id.* On Kacso's suggestion, A.K. was released to Kacso's sister. CP 457-58, 488.

The Department petitioned the juvenile court for dependency of A.K. and requested out-of-home placement because "it is unknown how the injury occurred and it is most likely the injury occurred in the parents' care." CP 380. At the 72-hour shelter care hearing, Plaintiffs waived presentation of evidence. *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 304. The court entered an agreed shelter care order that placed A.K. with her aunt and authorized liberal supervised visitation to Plaintiffs. *Id.* at 305; CP 384-92. The agreed order stated A.K. was "in need of shelter care because there is reasonable cause to believe: [t]he release of the child would present a serious threat of

substantial harm to the child . . . as assessed by Petitioner." *Id.*; CP 386-87. Plaintiffs waived the 30-day shelter care hearing, so the order remained in effect. *Id.* Fact finding on the dependency petition was set for April 13. *Id.*

The next week, Plaintiffs moved to modify the shelter care order, asking the court to return A.K. to their home based on changed circumstances. CP 398-403. They filed results from polygraph tests and their experts' opinions interpreting the results. CP 114-20, 125-42. Their experts' opinions conflicted with that of the KCSO's expert. CP 1874. Plaintiffs also filed a report and an addendum by a forensic medical examiner who had reviewed A.K.'s chart and concluded A.K.'s injury likely did not result from child abuse. *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 305; CP 57-60.

The Department submitted Dr. Duralde's report from her March 15 physical examination of A.K. CP 1884-87. Dr. Duralde concluded: "It requires some force to break the femur and in this case, a twisting force resulting in a spiral fracture.... This injury is highly suspicious for physical abuse in an infant." CP 1886-87. The Department completed its investigation in late March but the law enforcement investigation remained open while the prosecutor decided whether to file criminal charges. CP 356, 442-45, 1861. That determination was made June 23, 2016. CP 1654.

Meanwhile, on April 12, the juvenile court heard argument on Plaintiffs' motion. *Id.* at 305. Plaintiffs, as well as the Department, had

submitted "voluminous documents," all of which the juvenile court considered in denying Plaintiffs' motion. *Id.*; CP 418. The court ruled that:

[B]ased on the current evidence, the cause of [AK's] fracture remains unclear (whether forcible or accidental) and without a plausible explanation for same the court finds the reasonable cause standard for continuing shelter care (out of home placement) continues to be met.

Id. at 305 (quoting CP 419) (alteration in original). The order also ratified Plaintiffs' agreement to participate in a psychological evaluation. *Id.*

Plaintiffs subsequently agreed to two continuances of the dependency petition fact finding hearing. *Id.* at 305-06. They saw A.K. every day she was in her aunt's custody. CP 1104. On August 8, based on Plaintiffs' psychological evaluations, all parties agreed A.K. could return home. *Id.* at 306. After Plaintiffs completed court-ordered conditions, the court dismissed the dependency petition on October 24. *Id.* at 306.

B. Plaintiffs Sued the Department, Seeking Damages for Separation from Baby A.K.; the Trial Court Rejected Immunity Based on RCW 4.24.595(2)

Plaintiffs sued the Department, asserting negligent investigation, false light, and negligent infliction of emotional distress. CP 167-68. The Department moved for summary judgment, asserting immunity based on RCW 4.24.595(2).² *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 306. The trial court denied

5

² The Department also argued that Plaintiffs did not meet the elements of Plaintiffs' claims on the merits. CP 328-32, 337-39.

the motion, relying on *Petcu v. State*, 121 Wn. App. 36, 86 P.3d 1234 (2004), which it said it was "not aware [had] been superseded." CP 1841. "*Petcu* specifically says that this cause of action for negligent investigation can exist when there has been a harmful placement decision, and it doesn't matter if there has been [a court] order in place." CP 1841-42.

The Department moved for reconsideration on the ground that RCW 4.24.595 supersedes the cause of action in *Petcu* and *Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000). The trial court entered final judgment under CR 54(b) to obtain appellate guidance on the scope of RCW 4.24.595(2) immunity on claims stemming from *Tyner*. CP 1981. The trial court concluded that all of Plaintiffs' claims, "regardless of their characterization, would be precluded by RCW 4.24.595" if the immunity in the statute applies to the facts of this case. CP 1980.

C. The Court of Appeals Majority and Dissent Interpreted "Acts Performed to Comply" with Court Orders Differently

In a published opinion, a two-judge majority of the Court of Appeals held that RCW 4.24.595(2) does not grant the Department immunity from Plaintiffs' negligent investigation claim because "the Department's investigation of the abuse claims against Desmet was not performed to comply with court orders." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 313. The majority acknowledged that a claimant bringing a statutory negligent investigation

claim under RCW 26.44.050 "must show that the Department conducted an incomplete or biased investigation that resulted in a harmful placement decision." *Desmet,* 17 Wn. App. 2d at 309 (internal quotations removed). But it rejected the conclusion that RCW 4.24.595(2) grants immunity when "an alleged harmful placement decision results from a court order." *Desmet,* 17 Wn. App. 2d at 312. The majority declined to consider legislative history, dismissing it as "immaterial" because "the language actually used in RCW 4.24.595(2) is unambiguous." *Id.* at 313.

The dissent, relying in part on the legislative history of RCW 4.24.595, concluded: "[T]he Department is immune from payment of damages resulting from the placement of AK outside of her home as a result of a court order in this case[.]" *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 320 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part). The dissent interpreted RCW 4.24.595(2)'s "acts performed to comply with" court orders to include the "agreed initial placement of AK outside of the Desmets' home with her aunt, and ongoing placement of AK with her aunt during the dependency[.]" *Id.* at 317. The dissent discussed the legislative history, including bill reports and committee testimony, and stated: "RCW 4.24.595(2) limits the *Tyner* negligent investigation cause of action, but that is exactly what the legislature intended the statute to do." *Id.* at 318.

The Department moved for reconsideration, urging the court to

consider RCW 4.24.595's legislative history because the differing constructions of the majority, the dissent, and the trial court showed that the statute's language could be ambiguous. Appellant's Mot. for Recons. (May 17, 2021). The motion was denied, leading to this petition for review.

V. THE PUBLISHED OPINION MERITS REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1) AND (4)

A. The Decision's Construction of RCW 4.24.595(2) Conflicts With This Court's Guidance on Effectuating Legislative Intent

RCW 4.24.595(2) provides: "The department of children, youth, and families and its employees *shall comply with the orders* of the court, including shelter care and other dependency orders, and *are not liable for acts performed to comply* with such court orders." (Emphasis added.) The Court of Appeals published decision warrants review because its construction of the statute conflicts with this Court's precedent guiding statutory construction and fails to effectuate the legislature's intent.

"The construction and meaning of a statute is also a question of law, which we review de novo." *Wash. Pub. Ports Ass'n v. Dep't of Rev.*, 148 Wn.2d 637, 646, 62 P.3d 462 (2003). The purpose of statutory interpretation is to effectuate the legislature's intent. *Gray v. Suttell & Assocs.*, 181 Wn.2d 329, 339, 334 P.3d 14 (2014). When possible, courts determine legislative intent solely from the plain language of the statute by considering the text of the provision, the context of the statute, related statutory provisions, and

the statutory scheme as a whole. *Id.* If the plain language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is ambiguous. *Jametsky v. Olsen*, 179 Wn.2d 756, 761, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014). To discern legislative intent when there is ambiguity, courts consider sources beyond the statute's plain language such as legislative history and relevant case law. *Id.*

1. RCW 4.24.595(2)'s plain language makes clear that the Department is not liable to Plaintiffs for damages due to A.K.'s court-ordered out-of-home placement

RCW 4.24.595(2) provides the Department is "not liable" for complying with placement orders of the juvenile court. This language plainly negates an essential element of Plaintiffs' negligent investigation cause of action—the harmful placement decision. The negligent investigation cause of action under RCW 26.44.050 requires an incomplete or biased investigation that results in a harmful placement decision, such as removing a child from a nonabusive home. *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 601, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). Where, as here, the Department complies with a court order to place a child in an out-of-home placement, the Department is "not liable" for that action.

The legislature's intent that RCW 4.24.595 limit the Department's liability is confirmed by RCW 26.44.280, enacted in the same bill:

 $^{^{3}}$ The other types of harmful placement decisions identified in M.W. are placing a child in an abusive home, or letting a child remain in an abusive home. Id. at 601.

Consistent with the paramount concern of the department to protect the child's interests of basic nurture, physical and mental health, and safety, and the requirement that the child's health and safety interests prevail over conflicting interests of a parent... the *liability* of [the Department] to parents, custodians, or guardians accused of abuse of neglect is limited as provided in RCW 4.24.595.

Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill (ESSB) 6555 § 14, 62nd Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2012) (codified at RCW 26.44.280) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in *Peterson* is probative. It recognized: "[T]he legislature has limited the scope of [the negligent investigation cause of action] by granting the Department immunity for emergent placement decisions and compliance with shelter care and dependency court orders." *Peterson v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1079, 2019 WL 3430537 at *5 (July 30, 2019) (unpublished). The *Peterson* court noted "the legislature is within its power to essentially overturn the court's creation of the negligent investigation cause of action by granting the Department immunity" because the cause of action is derived specifically from RCW 26.44.050. *Id.* at *6 (holding RCW 4.24.595(1) immunized Department from parent's negligent investigation claim based on alleged harmful placement prior to shelter care hearing). While this case involves RCW 4.24.595(2), *Peterson* is probative

⁴ The *Peterson* decision is an unpublished, nonbinding authority that may be accorded such persuasive value as this Court deems appropriate. GR 14.1(a).

because it shows the intent of the statute and recognizes the statute's plain meaning. The same analysis and conclusions apply to RCW 4.24.595(2).

In this case, the Department complied with the juvenile court's orders that A.K. be in out-of-home placement. The court's April order followed a full fact-finding hearing in which the court considered "voluminous documents" presented by both Plaintiffs and the Department. *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 305; CP 418. Under RCW 4.24.595(2)'s plain language, the Department is "not liable" for complying with the court's placement order. Thus, the statute immunizes the Department from Plaintiffs' claimed damages flowing from that out-of-home placement.

2. Legislative history confirms the legislature's intent for RCW 4.24.595(2) to address the conflict created by *Tyner*

At the very least, the plain language of RCW 4.24.595(2) is not unambiguous in the manner the majority decision determined, which renders the provision's language meaningless (see Section V.B below). "RCW 4.24.595(2) limits the *Tyner* negligent investigation cause of action, but that is exactly what the legislature intended the statute to do... Legislative history, including bill reports and committee testimony... reflects that the legislature was concerned with eliminating the competing incentives that *Tyner* created." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 318 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part). The divergent analyses of the majority

and dissent illustrate potential ambiguity in RCW 4.24.595(2). *See also Peterson*, 219 WL 3430537 at *5 (recognizing RCW 4.24.595 creates some ambiguity). However, the statute's legislative history clearly demonstrates a strong, targeted legislative intent to reverse the expansion of Department liability effectuated by *Tyner*.

To understand the legislature's intent in enacting RCW 4.24.595, one must first understand the legal landscape prior to its enactment. RCW 26.44.050 requires investigation of allegations of child abuse or neglect (providing that "upon the receipt of a report alleging that abuse or neglect has occurred, the law enforcement agency or the department must investigate"). Implied from RCW 26.44.050 is the narrow negligent investigation claim applicable where the Department conducted an incomplete or biased investigation resulting in a harmful placement decision. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 601. As in all negligence claims, the plaintiff must establish the negligent conduct was the proximate cause of the damages. *See Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 622, 809 P.2d 143 (1991).

In *Tyner*, a father brought a negligent investigation claim alleging damages for wrongful separation from his children. CPS had determined the allegations regarding sexual abuse by the father to be unfounded, but failed to provide their investigation finding to the juvenile court. Unaware of the finding, the court ordered the children to continue in shelter care. *Tyner*,

141 Wn.2d at 74. The *Tyner* Court recognized *for the first time* that the Department's duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 also extended to parents suspected of abuse or neglect as well as to the child victims. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 82. It then held that a court order "will act as superseding intervening cause, precluding liability of the State for negligent investigation, *only* if all material information has been presented to the court and reasonable minds could not differ as to this question." *Id.* at 88 (emphasis added); *see also Petcu*, 121 Wn. App. at 56 (Department can be legally responsible for a parent's court-ordered separation from a child if the court has been deprived of a material fact due to the caseworker's faulty investigation).

Tyner and Petcu created a conflict between the Department's responsibilities to a potentially abused or neglected child and to the parent suspected of potential abuse or neglect. The Department could be held liable for failing to remove the child from a harmful situation, or for removing the child if hindsight showed the situation had not been harmful, or for following a court order placing the child while CPS was still investigating.

3. The legislature enacted RCW 4.24.595 to resolve the conflicting priorities created by *Tyner* and to make clear that child safety is paramount

The legislative history of RCW 4.24.595 leaves no doubt that it was intended to respond to *Tyner*. As prime bill sponsor, Representative Ruth

Kagi and others expressed, "the intent behind the immunity language was to limit the impact of *Tyner* and to use the immunity statute to ensure the Department errs on the side of child safety when placing children outside of the home." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 319 (Glasgow, J. dissenting in part).

Bill reports on ESSB 6555 specifically referenced the *Tyner* decision and the duty the *Tyner* Court found that runs to parents suspected of child abuse, as part of the background the bill addressed. *See* Final Bill Report ESSB 6555 at 3, 62nd Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2012). The legislature was informed of the procedures for law enforcement and the Department to respond to reports of alleged child abuse or neglect, including procedures for emergent removal of children and shelter care placement by the court. *Id.* In the section titled "Government Liability," the Report indicates the bill will "provide that a child's health and safety interests should prevail over conflicting legal rights of a parent" *Id.* at 6. It states the intent that "the safety of the child [be the Department's] paramount concern when determining whether a parent and child should be separated during or immediately following investigation of alleged abuse or neglect." *Id.* It also recites the language codified at RCW 4.24.595 and 26.44.280. *Id.*

The majority decision refused to consider or give effect to the legislative history. The dissent did consider it and concluded that "the legislature struck a balance by creating limited immunity that eliminates the

possibility of damages arising from placement of a child after allegations of child abuse . . . it removes the threat of having to pay damages if a jury later finds, with the benefit of hindsight, that the out-of-home placement was not actually necessary." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 319 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part).

That is precisely the Department's situation here: the Department acted on information known at the time in contesting Plaintiffs' motion for return of A.K. *Id.* at 305. In hindsight, a jury could find continued out-of-home placement was not necessary, as psychological evaluations ultimately concluded that Desmet and Kacso would not present a risk to A.K. if she returned home, the dependency petition was dismissed, and CPS reversed its investigation findings. Because the State's paramount duty is to the child, the legislature intended the Department be "not liable" for erring on the side of protecting baby A.K. while her injury was unexplained and the risk to her from her parents had not yet been evaluated to the court's satisfaction.

The majority decision's construction of RCW 4.24.595(2) invades the prerogative of the legislature to determine what suits may be brought against the Department. The Washington Constitution vests the legislature with the authority to "direct by law, in what manner, and in what courts, suits may be brought against the state." Const., art. II, § 26. The legislature has the power to restrict or eliminate causes of action derived from statute.

Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 651, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). Enacting a statute that limits the liability of a state agency lies squarely within the legislature's "sphere of authority." *Hale v. Wellpinit Sch. Dist.* 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 509-10, 198 P.3d 1021, 1028-29 (2009).

The legislature intended RCW 4.24.595(2) to "restore what the law was prior to [the] *Tyner* decision." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 319 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part). This Court should grant review and effectuate the legislature's intent.

B. The Decision Renders RCW 4.24.595(2) Meaningless, in Conflict With This Court's Rules for Statutory Interpretation

"Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Spokane Cnty. v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife,* 192 Wn.2d 453, 458, 430 P.3d 655 (2018). By making the Department "not liable" for acts performed to comply with shelter care orders and other dependency orders, RCW 4.24.595(2) negates the harmful placement element of the negligent investigation cause of action from the initial shelter care hearing through the adjudication of the dependency, creating immunity for such claims.

The majority concludes that RCW 4.24.595(2)'s "language is clear: immunity extends only to the Department's acts *performed to comply with court orders.*" *Desmet,* 17 Wn. App. 2d at 313. However, no stand-alone

cause of action imposes liability on the Department for the act of placing a child pursuant to court order. The majority's construction of the statutory language thus makes the Department "not liable" under circumstances where the Department already has no liability exposure. This renders the statute's grant of immunity effectively meaningless.

The majority further concludes that RCW 4.24.595(2) does not provide immunity for Plaintiffs' negligent investigation claim, because "the Department's investigation of the abuse claims against Desmet was not performed to comply with court orders." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 313. While this statement is technically accurate, it ignores what the majority itself recognized, the "negligent investigation cause of action is an exception to the general rule that there is no tort claim for negligent investigation." *Id.* at 309. There is no stand-alone negligent investigation claim without a resulting harmful placement decision. *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 602 (elements of negligent investigation claim are a biased or incomplete investigation resulting in a harmful placement decision). Plaintiffs' negligent investigation claim as contemplated by the majority—focused solely on the Department's investigatory conduct—is not cognizable.

Plaintiffs have argued that RCW 4.24.595(2) provides no immunity for negligent investigation where the Department misrepresented crucial evidence to the court resulting in the court's harmful placement decision.

Resp't Br. at 23-24 (Apr. 3, 2020). The legislature anticipated such an argument and addressed it by giving Department witnesses providing reports and recommendations to the court "the same witness immunity as would be provided to any other witness." RCW 4.24.595(2). The immunity for acts performed to comply with court orders "would not protect the Department or its employees if they fabricated evidence or committed perjury." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 319 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part). For misrepresenting evidence to the court, the remedy is a criminal charge of perjury, not a civil suit for damages related to harmful placement, *i.e.*, a negligent investigation claim. *See Bruce v. Byrne-Stevens & Assoc. Eng'rs.*, *Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 123, 125, 776 P.2d 666 (1989) (witness's reliability is ensured by oath, cross-examination, and threat of perjury).

The negligent investigation cause of action requires the essential element of a harmful placement decision, proximately caused by the negligent breach of the duty to investigate. RCW 4.24.595(2) precludes establishing the harmful placement element by making the Department "not liable" for acts performed to comply with shelter care orders and other dependency orders, *i.e.*, court-ordered placements. "[P]lacement in compliance with shelter care and dependency orders cannot be the basis for liability for damages under the plain language of the statute." *Desmet*, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 317 (Glasgow, J., dissenting in part).

Under the majority's interpretation, the "not liable" language in RCW 4.24.595 is rendered meaningless because there is no basis to impose liability on the Department for the actions the majority suggests evade the statute's "not liable" language. Review of this published decision is warranted.

C. The Majority Decision Implicates the Substantial Public Interest in Ensuring Child Health and Safety is the Paramount Concern of the Department

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