# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/8/2021 2:15 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 99893-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHELLE A. DESMET and SANDOR KACSO, individually and as the General Guardians of their daughter, ASHLEY A. KACSO, a minor

Respondents.

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON by and through its agency the DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES and the CHILD PROTECTIVE SERVICES DIVISION thereof, and YOLANDA A. DURALDE, M.D.

## **Appellants**

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel R. Kyler
Attorney for Respondents
WSBA #12905
RUSH, HANNULA, HARKINS
& KYLER, LLP
4701 So. 19<sup>th</sup> St., Suite 300
Tacoma, WA 98405
Phone: 253-383-5388

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

#### V. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. Contrary to Petitioner's argument and claim, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's guidance on the issue of legislative intent and the Petition for Review should be denied.

Petitioner's argument on this subject begins with the assumption that a review and use of legislative history is necessary and appropriate because the dissent at the Appellate Court referred to legislative history.

The Petitioner makes this argument to attempt to bring its petition into the

parameters of RAP 13.4(b)(1). However, the law of this Court is clear that where the language used in a statute is unambiguous, referral to legislative history is irrelevant and immaterial. *Cerillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 142 P.3d 155 (2006). As this Court stated in *Cerillo*:

In order to ascertain the meaning of [the statute at issue], we look first to its language. If the language is not ambiguous, we give effect to its plain meaning. "If a statute is clear on its face, it's meaning is to be derived from the language of the statute alone." (Citing authority)

Cerillo, at 201.

Petitioner's argument for review in this case assumes an ambiguity that it had previously argued didn't exist and then claims Division II's decision to not consider legislative history creates a conflict with this Court's prior rulings. Division II of the Court of Appeals applied the unambiguous, plain meaning of the language of RCW 4.24.595(2) as written. *Ronald Waste Water Dist. v. Olympic View Water & Sewer Dist.*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 364, 474 P.3d 547 (2020). In the context of what the Department has inconsistently argued as the ambiguous or unambiguous language of this statute, the majority of the Appellate Court succinctly clarifies what the Petitioner, and what the Dissent's legislative history argument suggests:

Ultimately, the Department's argument and the dissent's analysis are based on what the Department *wishes* that RCW 4.24.595(2) stated.

Desmet, 17 Wn. App.2d at 313

The Petitioner's argument that the Appellate Court's construction conflicts with this Court's guidance on effectuating legislative intent is built on a false premise and is therefore inapplicable.

B. RAP 13.4(b)(4) involving a claim of substantial public interest is not implicated by the Appellate Court's decision and the bases for discretionary review before this Court are not met.

Petitioner finally argues in its briefing that the Appellate Court's majority's failure to conclude that RCW 4.24.595(2) does not give the State absolute immunity presents an issue of substantial public interest and requires that this Court accept review and interpret this statute for the Department's benefit. Quite frankly, it appears the Department desires to cloak itself in a blanket of immunity on the basis that it is protecting a child from risk of harm perceived at the time, however flawed that perception may be, and therefore is always in compliance with Court orders. (Petition for Review, p. 20) On the motion for summary judgment before the Trial Court in this case which comprises the only record to consider, the State, despite separating this child from her parents was conducting no investigation! This is directly in violation of its own policies and procedures as established by the record before the Trial Court.

(CP 1015-1021)<sup>1</sup> The State specifically misrepresented that it had any testimonial evidence whatsoever to justify the separation of this minor child from her parents. The State refused to consider expert testimony from a nationally-recognized pediatric orthopedic surgeon that this medical condition did not necessarily suggest abuse or intentional misconduct (CP 1110-1176) The State misrepresented to the Court the polygraph information and had no declaration from any expert other than the misconstruction and misstatement by its own supervisor who was not even involved in this investigation as to what the conclusions were of the King County Sheriff's Office polygraph expert. (CP 1676; 1680; 1691; 1696-1702)

It is on this record of malfeasance and misconduct that the State desires to wrap itself in a claim of immunity. Petitioner basically argues that it can commit any misconduct and undertake any act of malfeasance because its heart is pure. And, if the Court doesn't apply such a broad immunity rule for the benefit of persons working in the field of preventing child abuse, other courts have expressed concern of the potential for "catastrophic effect". The answer to this alarming concern about the lack of absolute immunity is simple: Do your job; don't lie to the Court and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Former employee of DSHS, Barbara Stone, testified the Department has its own statutory duty to investigate. The Petitioner Department claims it was required to "stand down" or wait for the sheriff to complete its investigation is in error.

don't tell the Court you are doing things you aren't doing, or have things you don't have, so that the Court will continue to unnecessarily and harmfully separate a child from his or her parents. The unfair prolonged separation of A.K. from her parents without any effort at reunion of the family IS the "catastrophic effect".

C. Petitioner's claim that the plain language of RCW 4.24.595(2) exempts the Department from liability ignores the Trial Court and the Appellate Court's reasoning that the statute is inapplicable to Respondents' negligent investigation claims and does not support its argument for review by this Court of the Trial Court's order denying the Department's motion for Summary Judgment.

When circumstances suit the Petitioner, it now argues, as it did before the trial and appellate courts, that RCW 4.24.595(2) is *unambiguous* and that the plain language bars Respondents' claims. The Department argues:

Where, as here, the Department complies with a Court order to place a child in an out-of-home placement, the Department is "not liable" for that action. (Petitioner's Pet. for Rev, p. 9)

The Department's argument ignores exactly what the Trial Court and the Appellate Court concluded made this language inapplicable:

Desmet and Kacso's negligent investigation claim is not based on the Department's compliance with Court orders. Instead, their claim is based on the Department's alleged failure to conduct a complete and accurate investigation of the abuse allegation against Desmet and the Department's alleged act of providing false information and misrepresenting evidence to the Juvenile Court. No Court order directed the Department to engage in such conduct.

\* \* \*

[Plaintiffs] are claiming that the Department's negligent investigation caused the Court to issue those orders. All of Respondent's claims flow from the errors referenced and not from any court order.

Desmet, 17 Wn. App.2d at 312

The Respondent's claims flow from the errors referenced and identified and not from any Court order. The Petition for Review should be declined.

D. The Petitioner's argument as to what the legislature intended is not supported by the record, the legislative history and the language of the statute and its Petition for Review is not warranted on the record before this Court.

On the record before the Trial Court on the State's motion for summary judgment, the Petitioner Department argues: 1) That the plain language of the statute here limits its liability; 2) If the plain language doesn't limit its liability, then the statute is ambiguous and despite lack of evidence of any specific legislative intent in support of its argument, that the legislature could *only have intended* to preclude the legal bases for negligent investigation identified in *Tyner* and *Petcu*. The language cited by Petitioner from *Tyner* belies the argument for such an unsupported

inference to create what the text does not supply. The Petitioner states in its Petition for Review:

[The *Tyner* Court] then held that a Court order "will act as superseding intervening cause, precluding liability of the State for negligent investigation, *only* if all material information has been presented to the Court and reasonable minds could not differ as to this question." (Emphasis original)

(Petition for Review, p. 13.)

This is exactly the ruling of the Court of Appeals majority. The liability excused by RCW 4.24.595(2) is only the Department's acts performed to comply with Court orders. Desmet, 17 Wn. App.2d at 313.

As the Court of Appeals, Division II majority stated, where does any order entered by the Dependency Court *order* the Department not to conduct a complete and accurate investigation of the allegations against Desmet? Where does any order entered by the Dependency Court suggest or direct that the Department provide the Court false information or misrepresent the evidence it had to the Court to secure an order continuing out of home placement? What order of the Dependency Court orders, or even suggests, the Department to reject out of hand any expert opinion not obtained by its employees from experts of their choosing? The simple answer is, none of the orders do any such thing. None of the Orders would ever do such a thing. When the Department secures orders of the Court

based on false and misleading information which do harm to the very parties it is supposed to be protecting, it is reasonable, appropriate and consistent with RCW 4.24.595(2) that the Department have liability for that conduct.

## VI. CONCLUSION

The Department's arguments for this Court's review on the factual record of the Trial Court's denial of its motion for summary judgment is without merit and this Court should decline review.

The Petition for Review should be declined.